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TRAN 
DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
* * * * * 

 
 

MICHAEL A. TRICARICHI,  
                      

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 

 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS, LLP, 
GRAHAM R. TAYLOR, 

               
Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)
)
)
)
)
) 

 
  CASE NO.:   A-16-735910 
             
   
  DEPT. NO.:  XV 
 
 

Transcript of Proceedings 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE JOE HARDY, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS, LLP’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  

 
WEDNESDAY, MAY 10, 2017 

 
APPEARANCES: 
  For the Plaintiff: TODD L. MOODY, ESQ. 
     SCOTT F. HESSELL, ESQ. 
 
  For the Defendants: PATRICK G. BYRNE, ESQ.  
     PETER B. MORRISON, ESQ.  
     WINSTON P. HSIAO, ESQ. 
   
  RECORDED BY:    MATTHEW YARBROUGH, DISTRICT COURT 
  TRANSCRIBED BY:   KRISTEN LUNKWITZ 

 
 

Proceedings recorded by audio-visual recording, transcript 
produced by transcription service. 
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WEDNESDAY, MAY 10, 2017 AT 9:06 A.M. 

 

THE CLERK:  A735910, Michael Tricarichi versus 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP.   

THE COURT:  Whoever wants to go first is fine. 

MR. MOODY:  Todd Moody, -- 

THE COURT:  Probably -- 

MR. MOODY:  -- bar number 5430, for the plaintiff. 

MR. HESSELL:  Scott Hessell for Mr. Tricarichi. 

MR. BYRNE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  On behalf 

of Pricewaterhouse, Pat Byrne at Snell and Wilmer.  With me 

is outside counsel, Peter Morrison and Winston Hsiao from 

the law firm of Skadden Arps.  Also in this morning, Your 

Honor, is Mari Mazour who is the associate general counsel 

for Pricewaterhouse and she’s sitting right here in the 

back. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Welcome.  Welcome.  Excuse me, 

if you can’t tell, I have a bad cold.   

So, PricewaterhouseCoopers’ Motion for Summary 

Judgment, which I have reviewed that, Mr. Tricarichi’s 

Opposition, the Reply, Affidavits, and Appendix, and prior 

Order on the Motion to Dismiss.  So, I’ll ask a question to 

both sides and then welcome argument, beginning with 

PricewaterhouseCoopers. 

What, if anything, has changed since I denied the 
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Motion to Dismiss last November?  What discovery, if any, 

has been conducted in the interim?  Having said that, I 

welcome arguments of counsel. 

MR. MORRISON:  Is it okay if I work from the 

podium, Your Honor? 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  I -- that’s a fair question.  

Either the podium or tables are fine. 

MR. MORRISON:  Thank you. 

Well, Your Honor, to answer your question off the 

bat, the parties have exchanged initial disclosures and, of 

course, the plaintiff has had the benefit of full-blown 

discovery in connection with the Tax Court proceedings, of 

which Your Honor is aware from the Motion to Dismiss phase.  

So, there’s been plenty of discovery on their side, number 

one. 

Number two, we don’t believe that any additional 

facts, Your Honor, are necessary for the Court to reach the 

conclusion that this case is barred by the statute of 

limitations under New York law.  And, so, we believe that 

summary judgment is appropriate for that reason. 

There is no disputed fact before the Court that 

would prevent the Court from finding in favor of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers on summary judgment.   

And if I can go through our arguments, Your Honor, 

-- 
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THE COURT:  Sure. 

MR. MORRISON:  -- but I wanted to address that for 

you right up front. 

This is a very narrow, simple legal issue, Your 

Honor.  Narrow and simple.  Plaintiff’s claims here have 

been time-barred for nearly a decade.  One, there is no 

dispute, Your Honor, that the parties entered into the 2003 

Engagement Agreement.  Two, there’s no dispute that that 

agreement has a New York choice of law provision.  Three, 

there is no dispute that under New York law there is a 

three-year statute of limitations that runs from the date 

that the advice is given.  Four, there is no dispute, nor 

can there be, that PWC provided the advice at issue in this 

litigation by August of 2003.   

The Complaint at paragraph 39, Your Honor, says 

that the advice was given, quote: 

During the period April to August 2003, end quote. 

Mr. Tricarichi’s affidavit in this case, Your 

Honor, at paragraph 5 says that: 

The work and advice to me about proceeding with 

 Fortrend extended into August of 2003. 

So, there is no dispute of fact, Your Honor, that 

as of August of 2003 we were done with our advice.  Under 

New York statute of limitations, three years -- these 

claims were barred by August 2006.  You don’t need any 
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additional facts to reach the conclusion that these claims 

are time-barred.  

And, Your Honor, the Mardian case, Supreme Court 

of Nevada, is directly on point here and I would call that 

case to the Court’s attention.  That case -- 

THE COURT:  So, I -- just so you know, I reread 

that one because I read it when you were in front of me 

before and I reread it again. 

I'm sorry.  You can continue. 

MR. MORRISON:  I will not go through the facts of 

the case, Your Honor, -- 

THE COURT:  No, that’s okay.  I just -- I was just 

saying that to let you know.  I mean, you’re welcome to 

continue.  The good news for all of you, you’re the only 

one arguing this morning.  So, I have some time.  So, -- 

MR. MORRISON:  Well, -- 

THE COURT:  -- you’re fine. 

MR. MORRISON:  -- I have about 20 minutes of 

argument but -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. MORRISON:  -- I’ll try to be as brief as I can 

be.  And if the Court, at any time, would like me to move 

along, I’m happy to do so. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. MORRISON:  Your Honor, the key about the 
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Mardian case, and I appreciate that the Court has read it, 

is that the choice of law provision in that case is as 

follows: 

This guarantee shall be enforceable by lender in 

 accordance with the laws of the state of Nevada and 

 should be construed in accordance therewith.   

That is ex -- that is remarkably similar to the 

choice of law provision in the Engagement Agreement.  

Remarkably similar.  The Engagement Agreement says: 

That it shall be construed in connection with the 

 laws of the state of New York.   

Very, very similar provisions, Your Honor.  And 

listen to what the Supreme Court of Nevada held.  Quote: 

Because of the choice of law provision -- and 

that’s worth repeating, Your Honor. 

Because of the choice of law provision, Nevada law 

 particularly Nevada’s limitations period, applies in 

 this case. 

The Supreme Court of Nevada applied Nevada statute 

of limitations expressly because of the choice of law 

provision in the agreement and that choice of law provision 

is extraordinarily similar to the one before the Court in 

the Engagement Letter.   

The Court went on, Your Honor, importantly to say:  

It, quote: 
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Would not have been appropriate for the District 

 Court to apply Arizona’s limitations period, end quote. 

Because, quote:  The agreement specifies that it 

 is governed by Nevada law.  

The agreement specifies.  The Nevada Supreme Court 

didn’t apply Nevada statute of limitations because it’s the 

forum state, it applied it because of the -- almost exactly 

the same choice of law provision in the agreement.   

Now, Your Honor, we’ll -- having read the papers, 

we’ll know that we’ve also briefed the 187 factors under 

the Restatement of Conflict of Laws.  Now, while Mardian 

doesn’t go through 187 analysis, the Supreme Court of 

Nevada has also adopted the Restatement for Conflicts of 

Laws. 

Thereto, Your Honor, section 187 says:  The law of 

 the state chosen by the parties to govern their rights 

 and duties will be applied if the particular issue is 

 one which the parties could have resolved by an 

 explicit provision in their agreement direct to that 

 issue. 

Could have, not did, could have.  Clearly the 

parties could have contracted to include statute of 

limitations. 

And the Nevada Courts, adopting 187, will respect 

the choice of law, provided that three elements are 
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satisfied, Your Honor:  Good faith, substantial relation, 

and the provision is not contrary to Nevada public policy.  

All three are satisfied here, Your Honor.  Good faith, 

Nevada Courts enforce choice of law provisions where 

there’s no indication that the parties acted anything other 

than in good faith.  Here they did.  The Engagement 

Agreement itself provides that its terms are, 

quote/unquote:   

Necessary to, quote, achieve mutually agreed upon 

 objectives. 

That’s what the Agreement says.  The Agreement 

also says -- it contains a provision that signing the 

Agreement constitutes a representation that, quote: 

The Agreement is in accordance with your 

 understanding of our engagement. 

Clearly good faith.  He signed the Agreement.  

There’s no dispute about that.   

And I would direct the Court, Your Honor, to 

another Nevada Supreme Court case in Engel versus Ernst 

with respect to the good faith claim.  Engel versus Ernst 

also dealt with a national accounting firm, Ernst.  And 

here’s what the Nevada Supreme Court said: 

It is understandable, understandable, that the 

defendant would attempt to choose a set of laws to 

govern the partnership relationship, otherwise, if 
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defendant were required to satisfy the nuances of 

various state laws, there would be nonuniform 

enforcement. 

The Nevada Supreme Court is expressly blessing the 

idea that national firms like PWC are entitled to have a 

single jurisdiction’s law apply to all its contractual 

agreements.  We cite the Rose versus Chase Manhattan case, 

Your Honor.  Here’s a quote from that case: 

Selecting the law of the state where defendant has 

 its headquarters promotes uniformity and predictability 

 in enforcing the card member [phonetic] agreement.   

So, there’s no question that as a matter of fact 

in the contract and as a matter of Nevada Supreme Court 

law, this process is in good faith. 

Two, New York has a substantial relationship, Your 

Honor.  It’s undisputed that New York is 

PricewaterhouseCoopers’ principal place of business and 

headquarters.  That satisfies the substantial relationship 

factor. 

Again, Engel versus Ernst enforces a Colorado 

choice of law clause because the defendant accounting firm, 

quote: 

Recognized Colorado as its corporate headquarters.   

[Indiscernible] to 187, Your Honor, says that the 

substantial relationship requirement is met, quote: 
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Where one of the parties is domiciled or has its 

 principal place of business in the state. 

That factor is satisfied.  Undisputed facts again. 

Third, it is not against Nevada public policy.  

Courts hold that enforcing choice of law provisions, quote: 

Supports Nevada’s long recognized public interest 

 in protecting the freedom to contract, end quote. 

And the broad, quote/unquote:  Latitude afforded 

 such provisions under Nevada law. 

There’s no question it’s not against Nevada public 

policy either.  In fact, Your Honor, we cite the Izquierdo 

case and I think this is important on the public policy 

point.  The Izquierdo case cites to another Nevada Supreme 

Court case, Your Honor.  The Holcomb Condo Homeowners 

Association case.  There, the Supreme Court of Nevada 

upheld a contractual agreement to shorten the applicable 

Nevada statute of limitations based on Nevada’s, quote:   

Public interest in protecting the freedom of 

 persons to contract.   

So there’s no question that this is consistent 

with the Nevada public policy. 

So, under the Mardian case, Your Honor, and 

because all three 187 factors are satisfied, based on 

undisputed facts, there can’t be a question that New York 

law applies here.  And when New York law applies, it’s a 
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three-year statute of limitations that runs from the time 

that we issued -- gave our advice and had -- and gave 

services.  That ended in August of 2006.  Those facts are 

undisputed. 

Now, we think that that is sufficient, Your Honor, 

to grant summary judgment for PWC and we bring this, Your 

Honor, because -- notwithstanding that the Court denied our 

Motion to Dismiss, you did so without prejudice.  And we 

bring this now, Your Honor, because PricewaterhouseCoopers 

has undisputed facts that show that these plans have been 

time-barred for a decade.  And PricewaterhouseCoopers 

should not have to go through the expense and time of 

further litigating this case when there are undisputed 

dispositive facts before the Court. 

Now, Your Honor, I’d like to take about 10 more 

minutes or so, with the Court’s approval, of course.  I 

want to leave no doubt in your mind that we are correct as 

a legal matter here because -- 

THE COURT:  Then you have 10 minutes -- 

MR. MORRISON:  I will move quickly. 

THE COURT:  No, that’s fine. 

MR. MORRISON:  Thank you. 

I don’t want there to be any doubt that all of the 

arguments that plaintiffs raise are wrong as a matter of 

law.  Not disputed fact, law.  Plaintiffs essentially throw 
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the kitchen sink at the Court in their Opposition.  Running 

away from New York law.  And, in our Reply brief, we go 

through every single one of those arguments, Your Honor, 

and show why they’re wrong as a matter of law. 

First, plaintiff argues that the Engagement 

Agreement does not cover his tort claims.   

THE COURT:  I wouldn’t spend too much time -- 

MR. MORRISON:  All right.  We’ll move on from that 

one. 

Next one.  Second, plaintiff argues that you 

always apply the law of the forum state because it’s 

procedural versus substantive.  That is also wrong as a 

matter of law.  The Mardian case puts that to bed.  Mardian 

didn’t apply Nevada because it’s sitting in Nevada.  

Mardian applied Nevada law because of the choice of law 

provision.  And, in fact, the Izquierdo case that we cite, 

Your Honor, expressly rejects that argument.  The Izquierdo 

Court rejects the argument that, quote: 

Nevada law should apply to contracts’ procedural 

 matters such as statutes of limitations as irrelevant 

 because, quote, there is a facially valid contractual  

 provision choosing Delaware law, the governing law. 

All the other cases that Pricewaterhouse cites 

that apply the 187 factors reject that very position, Your 

Honor. 
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In response, plaintiff relies on a case from 1869.  

That’s the best they can do.  A case from 1869, the Wilcox 

versus Williams case and cases that’s cited.  Unfortunately 

for plaintiffs, Your Honor, none of those cases deal with 

the contractual choice of law provision.  Not one.  The 

only case they cite on that score is the Cantor decision, 

Your Honor.  Cantor was decided two years before Mardian. 

THE COURT:  Is that the writ -- 

MR. MORRISON:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  -- case? 

MR. MORRISON:  It was decided two years before 

Martian, Your Honor, so it is very questionable whether 

that remains good law.  And, in any event, when you read 

the decision, there isn’t any analysis or discussion of 187 

factors or the choice of law issue. 

THE COURT:  Isn’t that that they treated it like a 

writ -- it’s a writ and you can probably appeal it if you 

want to? 

MR. MORRISON:  Correct.  That’s exactly right, 

Your Honor.  You and I are on exactly the same page. 

All right.  Third, Your Honor, they say:  Well, if 

you don’t apply the 1 -- the Restatement of Conflict of 

Laws, you apply section 142, not 187.  That is absolutely 

wrong as a matter of law.   

187, on its face -- remember, we talked about 
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this.  It applies to any issue that the parties could have 

resolved by an explicit provision.  Okay.  Here you could 

have resolved it by stating that statute of limitations was 

included, therefore, 187 applies.  They ask you to provide 

142 because 142 [indiscernible] states that: 

The validity of a contractual provision limiting 

 the time in which an action may be brought under the 

 contract is determined by application of the rules of 

 187 and 88. 

And, so, based on that, he says:  Well, because 

the choice of law provision in the agreement does not 

expressly reference statute of limitations, you should 

therefore apply 142 and not 187.   

There is not a single case, Your Honor, that they 

cite in any of their papers that supports that proposition, 

that addresses 142 and 187.  And there’s good reason for 

that.  The Izquierdo case rejects that very proposition.  

Izquierdo says, under 187:   

The parties choice of law encompasses any issue 

 the parties could have resolved by explicit provision 

 in their agreement directed to that issue. 

And here’s the operative portion.  Thus, quote: -- 

THE COURT:  Wait.  Bear with me.  Where are you? 

MR. MORRISON:  Yeah.  I’m sorry. 

THE COURT:  That’s okay. 
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MR. MORRISON:  I’m at Izquierdo.  I’m at asterisks 

3 in Izquierdo.  And if you see, there’s a sentence that 

says: 

Restatement 142 is inapplicable. 

Paraphrase:  When there is a facially valid 

contractual provision.   

THE COURT:  Where a contract includes a choice of 

law provision? 

MR. MORRISON:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. MORRISON:  So, Izquierdo rejects the idea that 

142 applies and applies 187.  Rejects their precise 

argument, Your Honor.   

And to leave no doubt, let me be very clear.  For 

that reason, court after court employs Restatement 187, not 

142, even when the provision does not expressly include the 

statute of limitations.  Your Honor, we cite no fewer than 

13 cases that apply 187 where the provision at issue does 

not explicitly reference statute of limitations.  Thirteen.  

All of those cases would have analyzed completely 

differently if we were wrong and the plaintiffs were right. 

So, not only is it Izquierdo, it’s 13 cases.  They 

cite zero cases that apply 142 in the face of a choice of 

law provision that did not include a statute of limitations 

explicitly. 
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Next, Your Honor, they say -- they ask you or 

suggest that the choice of law -- the conflict of law rules 

of New York should apply since we want New York law to 

apply.  That’s just not the law.  Nevada applies the Nevada 

choice of law rules and then decides what jurisdiction’s 

law to ultimately apply. 

Reply brief at 10, Your Honor, we cite you four -- 

no fewer than four Nevada Supreme Court cases that apply 

Nevada choice of law principles and then hold that some 

other state’s law applies to the case.  Constanzo 

[phonetic], Progressive, Ferdie, Pintax [phonetic].  All 

Nevada Supreme Court.  

And then, finally, Your Honor, on this score, 

plaintiffs say:  Well, if the 187 factors apply, we don’t 

satisfy them.  Now, that doesn’t deal with the Mardian 

issue, which is dispositive, Supreme Court of Nevada law, 

but let me just walk through that briefly. 

With respect to good faith, they say:  Well, the 

parties didn’t specifically negotiate the choice of law 

provision and, therefore, we can argue that it wasn’t in 

good faith.  And then he also says:  I didn’t understand 

that I was going to be subject to New York law.  That’s 

legally irrelevant.  Legally irrelevant, Your Honor, and 

here’s why. 

Contrary to that argument, it is, quote:  Hornbook 
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 contract law, end quote, that, quote, one who enters 

 into a contract is on notice of the provisions of the 

 contract, end quote. 

That’s the Wynn Las Vegas case versus Segaro 

[phonetic] applying Nevada law.  The Supreme Court of 

Nevada itself has held, quote: 

The mere statement of plaintiff that he did not 

 know what he was signing when he signed the agreement 

 is no excuse in the law, end quote. 

That’s the Gaidy versus Phillips [phonetic] case. 

Plaintiffs, quote/unquote:  Failure to read the 

choice of law, quote, does not create a genuine issue 

of material fact, end quote, as to the validity of the 

choice of law provision because, quote, parties may be 

held to contracts which they did not read.   

The Pentax decision, Wynn Las Vegas, the Urington 

Ford [phonetic] case, Your Honor, all at Reply at 16.   

All five arguments -- number two, Your Honor, they 

again say:  Well, a reasonably jury can find that this was 

bad faith because it’s a one sentence New York choice of 

law clause in a multi-page boilerplate engagement document.  

That’s their very argument, Your Honor, that the -- or the 

Engel versus Ernst Court, Nevada Supreme Court, rejected. 

We’re entitled to have uniformity of application 

of law and it is not bad faith on PWC’s part to want that 
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uniformity.  That’s exactly what the Supreme Court of 

Nevada said.  

And, by the way, on that front, Your Honor, 

plaintiff’s argument that New York -- choice of New York 

law is somehow in bad faith is disingenuous.  He -- they 

reference a series of tolling agreements in their papers 

which don’t apply here because the claims were time-barred 

long before we entered into any tolling agreement, but 

every single tolling agreement itself has a New York choice 

of law provision, which he signed repeatedly from New York. 

Substantial relationship, he says:  Well, Nevada 

has a more substantial relationship to the dispute than New 

York.  That’s not the test.  It’s not relative.  It’s 

whether you have substantial relationship or not.  We cite 

the Nevada Power Company case, Reply at 19.  Again, rejects 

that very argument.   

Quote:  The test is not which state has a more 

significant relationship to the transaction, but 

whether the chosen applicable law has a substantial 

relationship to the transaction.   

Here it does.  We’re headquartered in New York. 

And then Nevada public policy.  They say:  

Plaintiffs should not be foreclosed from judicial remedies 

before they know they have been injured.  Your Honor, that 

argument is contrary to Nevada’s own statute of 
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limitations.  The statute of limitations in Nevada, Your 

Honor, is four years from the date the services are given 

by an accountant.  Not even the state of Nevada, Your 

Honor, has any type of discovery rule or injury rule.  The 

Legislature has already made a policy choice in Nevada that 

you don’t need to have an injury before the statute runs. 

THE COURT:  So how do you address their argument 

on that one?  They say -- subsection 1 of 11.2075 says: 

An action against an accountant or accounting firm 

-- and here’s their -- you know, their point of emphasis:   

To recover damages for malpractice must be 

 commenced within -- 

And then it goes through:  A, two years after it’s 

 discovered or should have been discovered.  B, four 

 years, etcetera.   

But they argue that:  To recover damages, if there 

aren’t any damages, then the statute of limitations there 

doesn’t even commence because there aren’t damages. 

MR. MORRISON:  Well, a couple of different ways.  

First, New York law applies and not Nevada law, Your Honor.  

So, you never have to reach that question.  That’s the 

easiest answer.  

The second easy answer is:  The Nevada statute has 

three prongs.  Right?  The middle prong is four years from 

the time the services are offered.  Right?  Doesn’t say 
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anything about damages or injury.  And, in fact, Your 

Honor, the other malpractice statutes, if you look at 

medical malpractice or legal malpractice, veterinary 

malpractice, all of which we cite in our papers, they all 

explicitly reference the statute running from the time they 

suffered damage or had an injury.  The accounting 

provisions don’t run from the time you suffered injury.  

So, they’re wrong as a matter of law. 

And, in fact, Your Honor, -- and we had this in a 

footnote in our papers, in our Reply brief.  If you look at 

the history of the statute on accounting malpractice, it 

used to be, Your Honor, that accounting malpractice and 

veterinary malpractice and legal malpractice were all one.  

And what happened was the Legislature made a policy choice 

to divide them up.  And when they divided them, they set 

aside the accounting piece and they kept the medical 

malpractice and the veterinary malpractice.  In the medical 

and veterinary malpractice, they kept a damages and injury 

piece.  In the accounting portion of it, they did not.  By 

definition, the Legislature has stated that there is no 

injury or damages requirement for the statute to begin to 

run. 

The Nevada statute and the New York statute are 

exactly the same in that respect, just that Nevada is three 

years and New York is three.  So, Your Honor, all five 
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arguments that they make, all five about why New York law 

doesn’t apply, fail as a legal matter.   

Now, they make three last additionally arguments.  

And I will try to wrap up.  I appreciate the Court’s 

patience.  Thank you.   

Finally, they say:  Well, even if New York law 

applies, our claims are still not barred.  And they make 

three points.  First, they reference the tolling 

agreements.  They don’t actually argue that the claims are 

saved by the tolling agreements because the claims were 

barred in 2006 and the tolling agreements don’t apply until 

2011.  So that’s irrelevant.   

Then they say:  Well, fraudulent concealment.  The 

issue there is there is no fraudulent concealment tolling 

under New York law, Your Honor.  We cite the Arnold versus 

KPMG case: 

Under New York law, a claim for malpractice is not 

 tolled by fraudulent concealment. 

We also cite the Fisher, excuse me, versus Wright 

[phonetic] case, Your Honor, both Reply at 22.  And, 

finally, they say:  Well, there’s been continuing 

representation and, under New York law, this continuing 

representation, the statute is tolled.   

There is zero evidence in the record that we 

represented them after 2003 August.  Zero.  The -- and the 
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law is clear.  The mere possibility that continuous 

representation could have occurred is not enough when, in 

fact, it has not.  And, remember, Complaint at 39, they 

themselves allege that the advice was April to August 2003 

and Mr. Tricarichi’s affidavit at 5:  August 2003.  The 

only thing he says really in response is:  Well, the 

Engagement Agreement stated that PWC would, quote:   

Be available to assist the client in the event of 

 an audit.   

But, again, the mere possibility is not enough 

and, in fact, Your Honor, I would direct you to the Johnson 

versus Parker Proskower Rose [phonetic] case, which we cite 

at Reply at 23.  That case rejects that very argument.  The 

Court there rejected plaintiff’s reference to a retainer 

agreement that stated that there was a, quote/unquote:   

  Ongoing representation. 

The Court held that, quote:  Any alleged general 

understanding of a standby, ongoing representation in the 

event that the IRS inquiries arose, did not amount to 

continuous representation. 

And, by the way, that’s case -- extremely similar 

to this one.  It involved a purported tax shelter and a 

more likely than not opinion, just like here -- 

THE COURT:  I read that one. 

MR. MORRISON:  Hey, thank you.  I will not go into 

035

AA 000121



 

 23

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

that further then, Your Honor.  

So, Your Honor, for all of those reasons, there 

are undisputed simple facts.  There’s no question that the 

arguments that they make why New York law doesn’t apply, 

fail.  And the arguments they make for why there’s two 

types of tolling under New York law doesn’t work.  And 

based on the Mardian decision and the satisfaction of the 

187 factors, there’s no reason why the Court shouldn’t 

grant summary judgment in favor of PricewaterhouseCoopers 

now.   

And I will say one last thing, Your Honor.  To the 

extent that the Court decides Nevada law applies, and it 

absolutely should not, we don’t believe that there’s call 

for that, but to give the Court further comfort, even under 

Nevada law, these claims are barred because it’s the same 

statute.  It’s four years instead of three.  So, they would 

have been barred in 2007, not 2006.   

And, again, Your Honor, and we’ve gone through 

this already, there is no discovery rule or injury 

requirement under that law.   

And, with that, Your Honor, I would ask that the 

Court enter summary judgment in favor of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers and I’d like to reserve a little bit 

of time for rebuttal. 

THE COURT:  Oh, you certainly can. 
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MR. MORRISON:  Thank you very much, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Thank you. 

MR. HESSELL:  Good morning, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Good morning. 

MR. HESSELL:  Counsel.  My name is Scott Hessell.  

I represent Mr. Tricarichi.   

Having a little bit of a déjà vu moment here, even 

though the courtroom has changed.  It is a lot nicer, so 

I’m sure you appreciate that.  The déjà vu moment is that 

five months ago we had all of these same arguments, all of 

this same case law, all of the same positions by the 

defendant.  And we responded to those arguments on 

voluminous Motions to Dismiss briefing.  And, yet, 

following the Court’s Order on the Motion to Dismiss, which 

at -- most significantly, at page 53 of the transcript, the 

Court found: 

Whether Nevada law applies -- this is a quote: 

Whether Nevada law applies on the statute of 

 limitations or New York law applies, I don’t believe 

 it’s appropriate to dismiss under the Motion to Dismiss 

 standard. 

You asked the question of counsel to both sides:  

What has changed?  And the answer you got or you didn’t get 

an answer actually to that question from Mr. Morrison, but 

I will answer the question, which is:  Nothing has changed, 
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except that the parties have begun to engage in the 

discovery that was contemplated. 

THE COURT:  Didn’t he kind of -- I thought he said 

something similar to what you just said. 

MR. HESSELL:  That discovery has begun, but 

there’s no -- there is yet to be a fulsome exchange of 

document requests or interrogatories on either the issues 

that are raised by the Motion -- by the statute of 

limitations defense, nor has there been full merits-based 

discovery yet.   

He suggested that as a result of the Tax Court 

case we’ve somehow already gotten full-blown discovery, 

which is not correct.  We did not ourselves obtain any 

discovery from PWC.  The IRS obtained discovery from PWC -- 

some discovery from PWC and then, in turn, produced it to 

us.  But, the scope of that discovery is far more limited 

than in a direct action case where you’re bringing claims 

for malpractice like this and I think it’s a substantial 

overstatement to say that we’ve gotten everything that 

there is on this topic. 

The reason, I believe, that Your Honor denied the 

Motion to Dismiss last time was to allow for that discovery 

to go forward before we have to respond to a Motion for 

Summary Judgment.  There’s nothing that bars them from 

bringing a summary judgment motion sooner, but the fact of 
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the matter is, is that it’s actually just a Motion for 

Reconsideration dressed as a Motion for Summary Judgment.   

The last time we were before you, we made the 

arguments about why, in our view, Nevada law is quite clear 

about the forum dictates whether the statute of limitations 

applies.  The -- but, before you get to that whole analysis 

about forum and the Mardian case, which I will talk about, 

such as it is, you have to get to -- 

THE COURT:  That was -- 

MR. HESSELL:  You have to get to -- 

THE COURT:  That was pretty funny. 

MR. HESSELL:  You have to get to -- because, I 

mean, charitably, Mardian does not discuss any of this. 

THE COURT:  I mean, am I mistaken when -- since we 

are on Mardian, I mean, it seems that the first District 

Court Judge indicated, quote:   

Neither Arizona’s nor Nevada’s limitations’ period 

apply. 

MR. HESSELL:  Yeah.   

THE COURT:  That would be why the second District 

Court Judge struggled with that issue. 

MR. HESSELL:  I think that -- you know, I’ve 

looked at this issue closely and as was -- it was actually 

a surprise to me before I got here for argument, I noticed 

that my co-counsel -- 
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THE COURT:  I -- 

MR. HESSELL:  You saw that? 

THE COURT:  I noticed that as well. 

MR. HESSELL:  Was -- 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. HESSELL:  -- actually counsel of record for 

the guarantor, the party who was being sued on a guarantee.  

And I was like:  Did this -- did these issues about forum 

law, Wilcox, statute of limitations, procedure versus 

substance, did any of that come up in the briefing in this 

case?  And the answer is:  No.  It did not, because it is 

not a statute of limitations case.  It is not a substance 

versus procedure case and it doesn’t overturn 150 years of 

existing, Nevada Supreme Court precedent that says 

[indiscernible], the statute of limitations is governed 

like procedures -- like other procedures -- 

THE COURT:  Well, isn’t -- 

MR. HESSELL:  -- by the forum law. 

THE COURT:  So, that’s, I think, perhaps the 

general rule, but is that overcome, so to speak, or doesn’t 

apply when you have a choice of law provision in your 

contract itself? 

MR. HESSELL:  Right.  And I think that is the nub 

of the issue.  In -- with respect to Mardian, and I want to 

deal with that first, since it’s 2015, it’s a Nevada Court 
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with a Nevada resident and two parties arguing for Nevada 

law, not -- applying the Nevada deficiency statute.  

Really, that’s what was at issue in Mardian.  Whether the 

Nevada Court should apply the Nevada foreclosure deficiency 

statute, which is its own unique statutory scheme and which 

wraps into the substantive claim this limitations period 

that says you have to bring within a certain period of time 

after you get a deficiency.  They’re looking at:  Well, the 

law -- the land is in Arizona and has there been a 

deficiency judgment yet?  And, under those circumstances, 

should we apply the Nevada deficiency statute?  

What they’re not looking at is saying:  Well, 

because the forum is Nevada, they don’t have before it the 

issue of:  Well, what if the choice of law provision 

selected some other state?  Should we apply that other 

state’s choice of law as well as the statute of limitations 

with it?  It just didn’t have that issue and that’s why it 

didn’t look at any of those other cases.   

The -- to answer your question, I -- this is where 

I was going to begin with and why I think the argument ends 

at the choice of law provision that they selected and stuck 

into their generic, boiler plate terms attached to the PWC 

Engagement Agreement says, in full, that the agreement 

should be governed by New York law. 

At the time that the parties entered into that 
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agreement, New York law says:  If you want to dictate what 

the statute of limitations is that should apply to a 

contract where you’re choosing a choice of law provision, 

you have to expressly state so.  You cannot just rely on 

the generic language, it’s governed by New York law.  That 

simply requires that the parties, as a matter of the 

substance of the law that is at issue, apply New York law.  

It doesn’t necessarily incorporate New York statutes of 

limitations.  That was the operating law that they were 

dealing with at the time that they entered into the 

contract.   

All of the law that they cite to about the 

Restatement, and the public interest, and parties being 

allowed to contract, all of that gets flipped on its head 

in light of the background legal assumptions that they were 

operating against.  And that’s not just New York law.  

That’s Delaware law, which is what Cantor cites to, that in 

Delaware, if you have a generic choice of law provision and 

the parties intend to include the statute of limitations, 

you have to expressly state so.  It’s not that PWC didn’t 

know how to draft that.  It’s not that they couldn’t have 

also, by the way, included a specific provision that said 

that New York statute of limitations should be used; New 

York jurisdiction -- exclusive New York jurisdiction.  All 

of that would have achieved the objective that they’re now 
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trying to achieve after the fact. 

But, since Nevada law, as well as New York law, as 

well as Delaware law and many other states’ law say that 

when you have a generic choice of law provision and it 

doesn’t expressly state that the statute of limitations 

applies, you then go back to the default rule, which is:  

Forum law dictates statute of limitations.  There is no 

contracting principle here that said the parties thought 

about this and negotiated for New York statute of 

limitations.  That just didn’t happen here and that’s -- I 

mean, at the end of the day, there’s lots of other 

arguments about why the Motion should be denied on the fact 

questions regarding the 187 statements -- Restatement, but 

the question of whether New York or Nevada law ends in that 

New York law, 100 percent clear, that this provision does 

not include New York statute of limitations.  That was 

Portfolio Recovery Associates, 2010, New York case, and the 

quote from it is:  

There being no express intention to -- in the 

agreement that Delaware statute of limitations was to 

apply to this dispute, the Delaware choice of law 

provision cannot be read to encompass Delaware statute 

of limitations.   

What did they say in response?  Like, oh, no, when 

we said we want New York procedures to apply, we just 
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didn’t mean all of the New York law that goes with it.  We 

only meant the statute of limitations and the substantive 

law.  We want you to go back to Nevada generic choice of 

law to evaluate whether or not this provision covers the 

statute of limitations.  No.  It doesn’t work like that.  

They don’t get to just pick and choose which parts of the 

procedures they want to use where it suits their needs.   

The law that I’m citing to about what is the 

meaning of the choice of law provision is interpreting, 

under New York law, what is the scope of a choice of law 

provision?  It’s not:  A choice of law generic proposition.  

It’s saying:  When you look to a provision that says New 

York law governs, what does that mean?  What do the parties 

understand that provision to mean?  And no one denies that 

if we had filed this case in New York and a New York Court 

looked at this choice of law provision, they would say that 

the statute of limitations is not automatically governed by 

New York law because that’s the law in New York and that’s 

also -- at least according to Cantor, the law in Nevada, 

and Delaware, and other places.  

Even if you get to the question of, well what does 

the provision then mean, that you go -- from my perspective 

-- and there isn’t -- candidly, there’s not a Nevada 

Supreme Court case that deals with a choice of law 

provision to another state and a Nevada filed case by a 
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Nevada resident involving transactions that were definitely 

connected to this state, but I would note that Nevada’s 

Legislature has already weighed in on this issue by 

creating a borrowing statute.   

In order -- because the background rule is the 

forum dictates the statute of limitations that applies, 

and, by the way, the only one -- Nevada Legislature is the 

only Legislature who has an interest in deciding what cases 

should be allowed to go forward in Nevada Courts.  New 

York’s Legislature doesn’t speak to that.  The New York 

statute of limitations isn’t trying to protect Nevada 

Courts from people forum shopping there.  Nevada’s 

Legislature passes a borrowing statute that says:  If the 

claims don’t arise in Nevada or there’s no connection to 

Nevada, then we’ll borrow another state’s statute of 

limitations that does more substantially connect here.  

There’s no argument by PWC that the borrowing statute 

applies here and there’s no reason why you should interject 

into that 150 years of background law an exception where a 

provision looks like the one that we have before you. 

So, I mean, I could -- the cases that we cite in 

the brief about forum law dictating, some of them don’t 

include choice of law provisions but some of them do.  And 

that would be the Asian American Entertainment 2009, Ninth 

Circuit decision, holding that Nevada’s choice of law rule 
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is [indiscernible] statute of limitations, foreign forum 

governs the remedy as opposed to the right.  When you’re 

dealing with a question of, what is the right, that’s the 

substantive law of -- that is chosen by the parties. 

And, also, a 2000 -- an April 2017 In Re: Sterba 

[phonetic], Ninth Circuit decision, which reaffirms the 

standard choice of law provisions don’t include statutes of 

limitation absent exceptional circumstances, as well as 

other District Court cases that do deal with choice of law 

clauses and how it interacts with statute of limitations. 

The -- so, I’ve already commented on Mardian.  I 

did want to make the additional point that it’s hard to 

believe that the Nevada Supreme Court reversed Wilcox 

without even referencing it or without the parties citing 

to it.  It’s further hard to believe that Izquierdo, which 

is a Federal District Court case where, again, oddly 

enough, Easy Loans, who was the plaintiff there, offered no 

explanation or argument why Nevada law should apply.   

The cases that they cite to you are essentially 

circumstances for one reason or another where the plaintiff 

did not cite to you the same cases that I’m citing.  He 

didn’t cite it to the Court.  He didn’t argue for the 

application of Nevada choice of law.  The parties 

essentially conceded on that point and the question -- 

those points and the question is:  How to apply it? 
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Izquierdo, again, a foreclosure case where it 

appears that the Bank forum shopped to file in Nevada to 

avoid Delaware’s shorter statute of limitations, the actual 

choice of law provision that was at issue there, which is 

on page 1 of the decision, is a lot broader than the one 

here.  It says: 

The terms and enforcement an agreement are 

governed and interpreted in accordance with federal 

law.  And, to the extent state law applies, the law of 

Delaware, without regard to conflict of law principles, 

the law of Delaware where we and your account are 

located will apply no matter where you live or use the 

account. 

That’s not the provision here.  In all events, I 

mean, if I had been the counsel in Izquierdo, I still would 

have argued that the existing precedent should apply.  And 

Izquierdo is not suggesting that he’s going contrary to 

that nor does he address any of the arguments that I raised 

here about what is the scope of a Delaware choice of law 

provision and the background against which the parties are 

operating. 

Okay.  So, unless there are any specific 

questions, I just really want to address the issue of 

Nevada -- to the extent either Nevada or New York law 

applies, both of them have a concept of fraudulent 
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concealment that are wrapped into them.  Nevada’s is 

express in the statute.  It says:  Even if they’re right 

about the injury and damage issue, the account and 

malpractice statute says:   

For any period during which the accountant or 

accounting firm conceals the act, error, or omission 

upon which the action is founded and which is known 

through the use of diligence, should have been known to 

the accountant or the firm. 

That’s what we cited to you before also.  It 

argues that even if they’re right about the injury point, 

we’re entitled to discovery on whether they did conceal the 

acts, errors, and omission.  The contrary cases that they 

cite to you are summary judgment after full discovery.  

None of them are Motions to Dismiss.   

And, in all events, we directed you before and, I 

guess, we’d direct you again, to the allegations that we 

make of fraudulent concealment are more than enough to put 

them on notice of what the basis for our claims are.  Same 

goes for New York law.  The continuous representation and 

fraudulent concealment principles allow, at the very least, 

for us to proceed with discovery on that point.  If they’re 

right that those -- that that fact doesn’t convince you 

that there’s a material issue of fact for a jury to decide, 

they can bring their Motion for Summary Judgment after 
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discovery is completed and make arguments about why those 

facts are not sufficient. 

All they’re doing now is hypothesizing what the 

record will show based on what we have now and saying 

that’s not legally sufficient.  But that’s not the standard 

that one is judged for at this stage. 

You asked the question, and I want to follow-up on 

it, on the Nevada statute of limitations and what does it 

mean.  We -- I don't know that there was a very good 

argument to the point that the Nevada Legislature did not -

- without any legislative history or direction at all 

decide to just change what the governing principles were 

when it separated out accounting malpractice from 

veterinary and legal malpractice.  And the fact that the 

statute specifically references a claim for damages before 

it gets into what is necessary is what we argue was the 

Legislature’s not abandoning that precedent that existed at 

the time, which is also sometimes referred to as case 

within the case doctrine, the idea that somebody doesn’t 

have to bring a malpractice case until the underlying case 

in which they are litigating over is concluded so that we 

can avoid the possibility of bringing cases prematurely. 

Here, we entered into a tolling agreement with PWC 

as soon as we received a Notice of Transferee Liability 

from the IRS.  As soon as the IRS said, we’re going to hold 
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you, Mr. Tricarichi, personally liable, we ask for a 

tolling agreement from PWC.  We had it in place until we 

lost the Tax Court case. 

In addition to the language about damages, there’s 

the language that’s in NRS 11.01, which was -- which has 

been the -- which is the first subsection of the statute of 

limitations in Nevada, has been on the books since 1911 and 

it says:   

Civil actions can only be commenced within the 

periods prescribed in this chapter after the cause of 

action shall have accrued, except where a different 

limitation is prescribed by statute. 

The -- 

THE COURT:  Isn’t that -- 

MR. HESSELL:  Well, so, the question is that the -

- after the cause of action shall have accrued, except 

where a different limitation is prescribed by statute, the 

different limitation period is not about what is the 

triggering event that has to start the running of the 

statute of limitations.  The periods that are in the 

accountant malpractice may govern, but the question is:  

What do you do in the scenario where the plaintiff doesn’t 

have damages yet?  

PWC’s interpretation of these statutes would 

suggest that Mr. Tricarichi was barred by O101 -- or O10 
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because he did not yet have a claim for damages, nor did he 

have an injury which had accrued.  And also barred because 

that event didn’t happen until such time as it was beyond 

four years from when the accountants provided their 

services and that may -- one could say:  Well, that’s what 

the Legislature intended.  They intended to cut off 

plaintiffs under these circumstances, but there’s nothing 

to suggest that.  There’s nothing in the legislative 

history to say that the reason what -- excuse me. 

There’s nothing to suggest in the legislative 

history or in the separation of accountants from vegetarian 

-- of veterinarians and lawyers that they intended to 

change the entire rubric against which they were 

legislated.  They just changed the triggering events, not 

the background assumption that you have to suffer injury 

first.   

In all events, I think, at the end of the day, the 

point is that there -- no matter whether it’s New York or 

Nevada, and I made this same point last time also, you have 

exceptions, which we are allowed and should be allowed to 

move forward with discovery on.  There’s nothing that 

they’ve raised here that’s any different than what was said 

before and, you know, frankly, I don't think this is what 

you had in mind when you denied the Motion to Dismiss, to 

come back in three months or five months and reargue it.  
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So, unless you have any other -- 

THE COURT:  So, yeah.  Just one.  You didn’t 

really talk about the Engel versus Ernst case.  How do you 

distinguish that where the Nevada Supreme Court appears to 

say:  Look, it makes sense for a national entity to say its 

contracts -- you know, whether it’s Nevada or New York or 

Colorado law to apply and it makes sense because they’re 

national and they want certainty to know what law applies 

in everything they do. 

MR. HESSELL:  Yeah.  I think that is a -- that 

runs headlong into the cases that we’ve cited to the Court 

about how you should interpret a generic New York choice of 

law provision in the face of New York law that says:  If 

you want to expressly incorporate -- if you want the 

certainty that they claim that PWC wanted at the time that 

it was contracting with our client, they had to expressly 

state in the choice of law provision that New York statutes 

of limitations apply.   

They could have also got it about -- gone about it 

in any number of other different ways and it is their 

boiler plate terms and conditions of agreement.  They could 

have also required that we litigate in New York -- in a New 

York forum only, in which case, they would also have 

dictated the statute of limitations.  And they also could 

have made the provision broader such that it would alert 
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our client to the fact that when he was agreeing to a New 

York choice of law provision, he was not only agreeing that 

the substantive law of New York would govern, but also 

agreeing that New York statute of limitations apply. 

And there’s just no way to look at this factual 

record on the posture it is now before you and say that 

these parties knew and understand in the course of a good 

faith negotiation that that’s what they were agreeing to.  

A one-line choice of law provision in a turn -- in terms 

and conditions addendum that is pretty small and agreed to 

all this other stuff that they’re now arguing for.  It’s 

just -- that’s just not what the facts will reveal, I 

suspect, and it’s -- the question, I think, should be put 

back to PWC, which is:  If that is the uniformity that you 

were so desiring, why did you put a one-line choice of law 

provision when you knew, or should have known, that New 

York law does not allow the interpretation of that kind of 

provision to mean New York statute of limitations? 

Plus, they get predictability as to the 

substantive elements of the claim.  The issue here is:  Did 

they also somehow negotiate for or get our client to agree 

that New York statute of limitations should apply no matter 

where he files the case? 

So, with that, I’ll sit down. 

THE COURT:  Thank you very much. 
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MR. HESSELL:  Thank you. 

MR. MORRISON:  If I can take a couple minutes, 

Your Honor? 

THE COURT:  Sure. 

MR. MORRISON:  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  You can have five if you want. 

MR. MORRISON:  Thank you very much. 

First, Motion to Dismiss versus Summary Judgment.  

Right?  He read the quote into the record.  You denied 

without prejudice under -- quote:   

Under the Motion to Dismiss standard. 

Summary judgment is a different standard, number 

one.  Number two, he himself conceded there’s nothing 

prohibiting us from filing an early summary judgment 

motion.  In fact, Your Honor, there are procedures to deal 

with that.  It’s called a 56(f) Motion.  If he believes 

that he needed discovery to oppose this Motion, he can ask 

for a narrow -- he can ask for narrow discovery and justify 

why he needs it to oppose our Motion.  They made a half-

hearted, two-page -- one and a half-page effort to say:  

Hey, we need some discovery.  None of which is relevant to 

the issues here, Your Honor. 

So, the idea that you should deny this simply 

because we haven’t had full-blown discovery is wrong as a 

matter of procedure.  They’re entitled to make a full-blown 
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56(f) Motion, which they really didn’t do.  So, that 

doesn’t win the day for them, Your Honor, at all. 

Opposing counsel then spent a lot of time talking 

to you about New York law and how New York law requires a 

contract to expressly reference the statute of limitations 

in the choice of law provision.  That’s what I covered with 

you in my opening statements, Your Honor.  Those are choice 

of law rules.  You do not apply New York’s choice of law 

rules.  Right?  The law is you apply Nevada’s choice of law 

rules, which does not require you -- the contract to 

expressly reference statute of limitations.  Once you apply 

Nevada’s rules, then you can go to New York.  We cited no 

fewer than four Nevada Supreme Court cases on that point, 

Your Honor. 

And, in fact, Motion at 8 note 2 and our Reply at 

12 to 13 note 6: 

That argument ignores all the cases that we cite 

in which a court applied New York’s statute of 

limitations pursuant to the provision, even when the 

provision did not explicitly include statutes of 

limitations.   

If he were correct, and it had to include an 

express statute of limitations clause, all the cases we 

cite, all five, would have been wrong. 

Your Honor, I submit to you opposing counsel makes 
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a nice rhetorical argument and tries to distinguish our 

cases.  Did you hear him talk about any cases affirmatively 

supporting the points he’s making?  None.  Because there 

aren’t any.   

Now, let’s talk about Izquierdo for a second 

because I kind of chuckled.  First thing he said to 

Izquierdo is:   

Nobody argued for Nevada law in that case.   

And the transcript will show that that’s a quote.  

Let me read this into the record.  Quote: 

Easy Loans contends that Nevada law should apply 

 to the contract’s procedural matters. 

So, that’s wrong.   

Then he says:  No case rejects the proposition 

 about the borrowing statute and how the borrowing 

 statute should apply.   

He -- remember, he talked about the borrowing 

statute.  Izquierdo rejects that very argument too.  Quote: 

Easy Loans points to Nevada’s borrowing statute as 

 legislative convocation of its policy. 

These -- this argument is flawed for several 

reasons.  It rejects the very argument that he made and he 

-- and which he claimed that no one’s ever dealt with or 

argued about. 

First, Izquierdo says:  It hinges on the 
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applicability of the Restatement 142, which, as 

discussed above, is irrelevant in light of the 

contractual choice of law provision.  Rather, 

Restatement 187 controls and demands the conclusion 

that Delaware law, not Nevada law, applies to the 

statute of limitations issue. 

Over and over and over again, Your Honor, he’s 

wrong as a matter of law and he’s telling you otherwise.  

Now, with respect to fraudulent concealment, Your 

Honor, -- let’s talk about fraudulent concealment for a 

second.  First, he relied on his allegations.  Do you 

recall that?  Insufficient at the summary judgment stage, 

Your Honor.  Number one.   

Number two, with respect to fraudulent 

concealment, let’s talk about what the law is in Nevada.  

Now, we don’t believe Nevada applies.  We believe New York 

applies.  There is no fraudulent concealment under New York 

law.  But, under Nevada, they must make two showings.  

First, they have to prove, quote/unquote:   

Affirmative conduct that they fraudulently 

 concealed the information. 

And the law is, quote:  Mere silence or passive 

 conduct, end quote, is insufficient. 

Second, they must show that the concealed 

information was, quote:   
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Material, meaning that the information would have 

 objectively hindered a reasonably diligent plan of -- 

 from timely filing suit. 

He fails both prongs of fraudulent concealment 

even if Nevada law applies.  Doesn’t rescue his claim.  

First, all he says is that PWC failed to disclose to them 

two other transactions that PWC was purportedly working on:  

Bishop and Marshal.  And his affidavit says, at 8 and 9: 

PWC failed to, quote, disclose these facts to me, 

 quote, and, quote, did not tell me, end quote, about 

 his other transactions.   

But, Your Honor, mere silence is not enough.  

There has to be active, affirmative action on concealment.  

That doesn’t work as a legal matter in Nevada. 

Second:  The concealed information must 

 objectively hinder a reasonable and diligent plaintiff 

 from timely filing suit. 

That fails, too.  And this takes a minute to get 

through, but it’s a logical point that I think is important 

because plaintiff has contradicted himself with respect to 

the positions he’s taken before Your Honor. 

Plaintiff argues that he would have been alerted 

to PWC’s alleged malpractice if he had known in late 2003 

that the IRS began auditing and challenging the corporate 

tax returns sold in connection with Bishop and Marshal.  
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But, Your Honor, during these Tax Court proceedings, 

plaintiff testified that he was deposed in November of 2007 

by the IRS.  During IRS’s audit of Westside, which is the 

corporation here, Your Honor, and this is what he testified 

to: 

Thus, quote, learned that there might be a problem 

 with Westside’s unpaid federal income tax. 

That was 2007, Your Honor.  Based on that 

testimony, we argued, as Your Honor might recall, that 

plaintiff was on notice of any possible malpractice claims, 

no later than November of 2007 because of that statement in 

his testimony.  And, under Nevada law, two years after you 

knew or should have known, the statute of limitations runs.   

But to avoid that result, the plaintiff asserted 

that learning of Westside’s possible corporate tax 

liability did not put them on notice in his own possible 

liability and thus did not put him on notice of any 

personal, individual claims he might have had against PWC.  

He wasn’t put on notice, according to the plaintiff, of his 

possible claims until he learned of his own possible 

transferee liability.   

But, Your Honor, the 2003 IRS challenges to Bishop 

and Marshal only concern corporate tax liability, not 

individual transferee liability.  There was never an issue 

of transferee liability in Bishop and the issue in Marshal 
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didn’t come down until 2003, years after plaintiff would 

have already learned of his own transferee liability.  If 

being aware of Westside’s potential corporate tax liability 

in November of 2007 was not enough to put him on notice of 

his potential claims against PWC over his personal 

liability, then learning about the corporate tax liability 

in Marshal and Bishop would not have put him on notice of 

any individual claims either.  If the situation was 

reversed, if knowing about corporate issues would have put 

them on notice of individual issues, then his claims are 

barred by 2009 because he would have been on notice in 

2007.  So, by his own positions that he’s taken in this 

Court, he’s conceded that there’s been no fraudulent 

concealment, Your Honor. 

Now, last couple points, Your Honor, and then I’ll 

sit down.  He argues that:  Well, the provision could have 

been written differently and I didn’t understand what I was 

signing.  I’ve covered that, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  You have. 

MR. MORRISON:  Thank you.   

He says:  The history of the statute -- by 

breaking out the statute in Nevada differently, it didn’t 

say anything about the Legislature’s intent.  That also is 

contrary to law, Your Honor.  In McKay versus Board 

Supervisors Across the City [phonetic], our Reply brief at 
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26, note 11: 

Where a statute is amended, provisions of the 

former statute omitted from the amendment statute are 

repealed and it is presumed, the Legislature, by the 

[indiscernible] express portion of a law intended a 

substantial change in the law.   

So, the argument he’s making to you, Your Honor, 

doesn’t work as a matter of law. 

Now, finally, I just want to talk about policy for 

a second, Your Honor, because plaintiff has made a big deal 

about he hasn’t had discovery, and he’s going to get kicked 

out of court, and you should let this case continue.  First 

I’d like to note he’s accused PWC of negligence-based 

claims.  Granting summary judgment for PWC here, which we 

believe you should, he still has his fraud-based claims 

against the intentional wrongdoers here.  All the banks 

that put him into this, now that’s up on appeal on personal 

jurisdiction grounds, as you remember, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  I was going to say, didn’t I dismiss -

- anyway. 

MR. MORRISON:  You did -- Your Honor, you did 

dismiss them but he can go sue them -- 

THE COURT:  [Indiscernible]. 

MR. MORRISON:  -- in jurisdiction where there’s 

personal jurisdiction.  He’s not -- it’s not as if they 
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don’t have redress.  He can go sue the people he’s accused 

of fraud.  They haven’t accused us of fraud. 

Second, Your Honor, -- 

THE COURT:  Second and final? 

MR. MORRISON:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. MORRISON:  Third to -- 

THE COURT:  You can skip two or go to three -- 

MR. MORRISON:  All right.  I’ll go to three.  Last 

point.  Last point, Your Honor.  

Know this, all the policy and equitable arguments 

that the plaintiff has made here, Your Honor, there are 

equitable and policy arguments on PWC’s side also.  The 

Legislature by saying -- 

THE COURT:  Like freedom to contract? 

MR. MORRISON:  What?  I'm sorry. 

THE COURT:  Freedom to contract -- 

MR. MORRISON:  But not only that.  Freedom to 

contract, number one, but, not only that, Your Honor, let’s 

not forget.  Legislatures make policy choices when they 

assigns statutes of limitations.  Nevada, four years; New 

York, three years.  The Legislature has said:   After that 

period of time, claims against accounting firms are stale.  

And the reason for that is we shouldn’t be put in the 

position of having to defend ourselves where evidence is 
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stale, witnesses have died.  We are put in a compromised 

position to defend claims that we believe did not have any 

merit.   

Let’s not forget, this happened in 2003.  We’re 

sitting here in 2017.  The Legislature has said that we 

shouldn’t be put in that compromised position.  So it’s not 

just the equities on their side, it’s the equities on ours, 

which means, Your Honor, this isn’t an equitable issue.  

It’s an issue of statute.  And if you dispassionately apply 

the law, Your Honor, you can only come to two conclusions.  

One, New York applies.  And, two, these claims have bene 

time barred for more than a decade and I appreciate you 

giving me all the time, Your Honor.  Thank you. 

THE COURT:  Thank you both.   

So, I’ll give you my ruling and give you the 

reasons why because they are very important here.  I’m 

going to deny without prejudice PricewaterhouseCoopers, 

LLP’s Motion for Summary Judgment based solely -- Mr. 

Hessell, you’ll prepare the Order because I’m denying it.  

So, when you prepare it, put these reasons in there. 

Based solely on the NRCP 56(f) relief.  The record 

before me now, I cannot even find that genuine issues of 

material fact exist based on the record in front of me.  

So, it’s not -- and put this in there.  It’s not denied on 

that basis, it’s only on the 56(f) requested and I cannot, 
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on the record in front of me -- so, put this in there.  I 

cannot find that genuine issues of material fact exist 

regardless of which state’s law applies in this case.   

And, so, I’m going to grant the 56(f) relief and I will 

note -- please include this in the Order.  I will note that 

Mr. Tricarichi affirmatively says in his affidavit on page 

3, lines 10 through 12: 

PWC’s [indiscernible] advice to me about 

 proceeding with the Fortrend transaction extended into 

 August 2003. 

I think that’s a very key fact.   

The 56(f) relief, the  discovery sought, as set 

forth in paragraph 10 of his affidavit.  And, so, limited 

discovery and if there are -- you know, I agree paragraph 

10 is not necessarily super clear.  So, if there are 

disputes, first you would need to meet and confer after 

this in terms of the scope of discovery and, if you 

encounter disagreements or disputes after your good faith 

meet and confer efforts -- this is a Business Court case 

and I’m doing your discovery.  But that’s my order. 

MR. BYRNE:  Your Honor, one question.  There is 

more -- much broader discovery requests that have been 

propounded on the defendant here. 

THE COURT:  That’s kind of why I said limited 

discovery. 
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MR. BYRNE:  So this is to -- we are now inclined 

here to limit our discovery to address the 56(f) issues? 

THE COURT:  Yes. 

MR. BYRNE:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  And that -- you can put this in 

the Order.  You know, that is because I -- the record in 

front of me, I cannot find that a genuine issue of material 

fact exists that would cause me to deny summary judgment, 

but, at the same time, I think that 56(f) relief is 

appropriate as set forth in Mr. Tricarichi’s affidavit.  

So, Mr. Hessell, prepare the Order and submit it 

to everyone, I guess -- everyone here in the courtroom for 

review and approval. 

MR. HESSELL:  All right. 

MR. BYRNE:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. HESSELL:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

 

PROCEEDING CONCLUDED AT 10:15 A.M. 

*   *   *   *   * 
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CERTIFICATION 
 
 

 
 
I certify that the foregoing is a correct transcript from 
the audio-visual recording of the proceedings in the 
above-entitled matter. 
 
 
 
 

AFFIRMATION 
 
 

I affirm that this transcript does not contain the social 
security or tax identification number of any person or 
entity. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 KRISTEN LUNKWITZ  
 INDEPENDENT TRANSCRIBER 
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